
Lloyd White
Head of Democratic Services
London Borough of Hillingdon,
Phase II, Civic Centre, High Street, Uxbridge, UB8 1UW

Putting our residents first

Council
Date: THURSDAY, 12 

SEPTEMBER 2019

Time: 7.30 PM

Venue: COUNCIL CHAMBER - 
CIVIC CENTRE, HIGH 
STREET, UXBRIDGE

Meeting 
Details:

Members of the Public and 
Press are welcome to attend 
this meeting 

To all 
Members of 
the Council

Published: Wednesday, 4 September 
2019

View the agenda online at 
www.hillingdon.gov.uk 

Alternatively, use a smart phone camera 
and scan the code shown below:

Contact:  Lloyd White, Head of 
Democratic Services
Tel: 01895 556743
Email: lwhite@hillingdon.gov.uk

 

Public Document Pack

http://www.hillingdon.gov.uk/


Useful information for 
residents and visitors

Watching & recording this meeting

You can watch this meeting on the Council's 
YouTube channel, live or archived.

Residents and the media are also welcome to 
attend in person, and if they wish, report on the 
public part of the meeting. Any individual or 
organisation may record or film proceedings as 
long as it does not disrupt proceedings. 

It is recommended to give advance notice of filming to ensure any particular requirements can be 
met. The Council will provide seating areas for residents/public, high speed WiFi access to all 
attending and an area for the media to report. When present in the room, silent mode should be 
enabled for all mobile devices.

Travel and parking

Bus routes 427, U1, U3, U4 and U7 all stop at the 
Civic Centre. Uxbridge underground station, with the 
Piccadilly and Metropolitan lines, is a short walk 
away. Limited parking is available at the Civic 
Centre. For details on availability and how to book a 
parking space, please contact Democratic Services. 
Please enter from the Council’s main reception 
where you will be directed to the Committee Room. 

Accessibility

For accessibility options regarding this agenda 
please contact Democratic Services.  For those 
hard of hearing an Induction Loop System is 
available for use. 

Emergency procedures

If there is a FIRE, you will hear a continuous alarm. Please follow the signs to the nearest FIRE 
EXIT and assemble on the Civic Centre forecourt. Lifts must not be used unless instructed by a 
Fire Marshal or Security Officer. In the event of a SECURITY INCIDENT, follow instructions issued 
via the tannoy, a Fire Marshal or a Security Officer. Those unable to evacuate using the stairs, 
should make their way to the signed refuge locations.



Agenda

Prayers
To be said by Reverend Richard Young

1 Apologies for Absence

2 Minutes 1 - 8
To receive the minutes of the meeting held on 04 July 2019 (attached)

3 Declarations of Interest 
To note any declarations of interest in any matter before the Council

4 Mayor's Announcements

5 Report of the Head of Democratic Services 9 - 24

6 Members' Questions 25 - 26
To take questions submitted by Members in accordance with Council 
Procedure Rule 11

7 Motions 27 - 30
To consider Motions submitted by Members in accordance with Council 
Procedure Rule 12



This page is intentionally left blank



Minutes

COUNCIL

4 July 2019

Meeting held at Council Chamber - Civic Centre, High 
Street, Uxbridge

Councillor David Yarrow (Mayor)
Councillor Teji Barnes (Deputy Mayor)

MEMBERS PRESENT: 
Councillors: Shehryar Ahmad-

Wallana
Lynne Allen
Simon Arnold
Jonathan Bianco
Mohinder Birah
Lindsay Bliss
Wayne Bridges
Nicola Brightman
Keith Burrows
Roy Chamdal
Alan Chapman
Farhad Choubedar
Judith Cooper
Philip Corthorne
Peter Curling
Nick Denys
Alan Deville
Jazz Dhillon
Jas Dhot
Janet Duncan

Ian Edwards
Tony Eginton
Scott Farley
Duncan Flynn
Neil Fyfe
Janet Gardner
Martin Goddard
Raymond Graham
Becky Haggar
John Hensley
Vanessa Hurhangee
Allan Kauffman
Kuldeep Lakhmana
Eddie Lavery
Richard Lewis
Heena Makwana
Michael Markham
Stuart Mathers
Carol Melvin
Ali Milani

Douglas Mills
Richard Mills
Peter Money
John Morgan
John Morse
June Nelson
Susan O'Brien
John Oswell
Jane Palmer
Kerri Prince
Ray Puddifoot MBE
Devi Radia
John Riley
Paula Rodrigues
Raju Sansarpuri
David Simmonds CBE
Jagjit Singh
Brian Stead
Jan Sweeting
Steve Tuckwell

OFFICERS PRESENT: Fran Beasley, Jean Palmer, Paul Whaymand, Tony Zaman, 
Raj Alagh, Lloyd White, Mark Braddock, Beth Rainey and Neil Fraser

11.    APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE  (Agenda Item 1)

Apologies were received from Councillors Higgins, Jackson and Seaman-Digby.

12.    MINUTES  (Agenda Item 2)

RESOLVED:  That the minutes of the meetings held on 21 February and 09 May 
2019 be approved as a correct record.

13.    DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  (Agenda Item 3)

None.

14.    MAYOR'S ANNOUNCEMENTS  (Agenda Item 4)

The Mayor announced the passing of ex-Councillor Graham Horn, who was an 
elected Member from 1978 to 2010. His passing was marked by a minute’s silence.

Page 1

Agenda Item 2



The Mayor announced that local organisations NishkamSWAT and the Northwood 
Hills Residents’ Association had been awarded the Queen’s Award for Voluntary 
Services. In addition, the Council’s AXIS team had won the Municipal Journal 
Achievement Award for Innovation in Children’s Services.

The finals of the Jack Petchey Speak Out Awards had recently been held at the 
Cambridge Theatre, where a Year 10 student at Bishop Ramsey School had achieved 
second place.

The Mayor confirmed that since 9 May 2019, the Mayoralty had conducted 139 visits.

15.    REPORT OF THE HEAD OF DEMOCRATIC SERVICES  (Agenda Item 5)

i) Urgent Implementation of Decisions

Councillor Puddifoot moved, and Councillor Simmonds seconded, the 
recommendation as set out on the Order of Business.

RESOLVED:  That the Urgency decisions detailed in the report be noted.

ii) Local Government Boundary Commission for England (LGBCE) Review of 
Electoral Arrangements

Councillor Puddifoot moved, and Councillor Simmonds seconded, the 
recommendation as set out on the Order of Business. 

RESOLVED:  That

a) the warding arrangements as determined by the LGBCE be noted.

b) the Head of Democratic Services, in his role as Returning Officer for the 
Borough conduct the statutory review of Parliamentary Polling Places, 
including the new warding arrangements for 2022, with a view to 
submitting proposals to Council in November 2019.

iii) Waiver of 6 Month Councillor Attendance Rule

Councillor Puddifoot moved, and Councillor Simmonds seconded, the 
recommendation as set out on the Order of Business.

RESOLVED:  That, pursuant to Section 85(1) of the Local Government Act 1972, 
Councillor Jackson’s non-attendance at meetings of the authority due to ill 
health be approved for a further period ending the day after the Council meeting 
in January 2020, i.e. 17 January 2020.

16.    MEMBERS' QUESTIONS  (Agenda Item 6)

6.2 QUESTION SUBMITTED BY COUNCILLOR HURHANGEE TO THE LEADER 
OF THE COUNCIL – COUNCILLOR PUDDIFOOT:

At the last meeting, Council clarified the protocol relating to enquiries made by 
Members that did not specifically relate to their own Ward. Would the Leader of the 
Council please provide us with an update on how this is working?

Councillor Puddifoot confirmed that Councillors were responsible for representing the 
Page 2



residents of their Wards. The agreed protocol made provision for Councillors to 
request information or actions on matters outside of their Wards via a request to their 
Group Leader.

The number of Member’s Enquiries (MEs) submitted had risen by 37% over the 
previous year, and Members were reminded that MEs were not to be used as a 
source of general information.

With regard to scrutiny, it was highlighted that Scrutiny Committees received a wide 
variety of information reports regularly, and when conducting an in-depth review, 
scrutiny committees received data from a variety of expert sources from both within 
and outside of the Council. If there was a requirement for further information relating 
to the review being undertaken, this should be requested through the Committee, 
rather than through individual requests from Members.

All confidential Cabinet and Cabinet Member reports were available to all Councillors 
irrespective of their position on a Committee, which exceeded the recommendations 
set out in national guidance. Following the recent issuing of new statutory scrutiny 
guidance, a report detailing the required changes to the Council’s Constitution, if any, 
would be brought to the Council meeting in September 2019. However, it was 
highlighted that within the new guidance, the difference between a ME and a 
Committee Enquiry was made explicit.

Councillor Puddifoot concluded by stating that the new protocol governing MEs was 
not affecting Members’ ability to fulfil their scrutiny roles, and that the Council would 
continue to use the statutory guidance issued by the Government to determine how 
Councillors were to carry out overview and scrutiny within the Council.

There was no supplementary question.

6.1 QUESTION SUBMITTED BY COUNCILLOR DUNCAN TO THE LEADER OF 
THE COUNCIL – COUNCILLOR PUDDIFOOT:

Will the Leader of the Council tell us why, despite receiving advanced detailed 
information about the shoddy and dangerous build quality of Packet Boat House, 
Cowley, the Council went ahead and bought the building without adequate checks 
being carried out so that all residents have now had to be moved out while the 
building is partially gutted and rebuilt to safe standards?

Councillor Puddifoot summarised the actions taken by the Council in respect of 
Packet Boat House. The decision to purchase the site from Paradigm had been taken 
by Cabinet in November 2015, for an anticipated completion by 31 March 2016.

In February 2016, there had been a major on-site leak and Paradigm had informed 
the Council that they had received allegations about the quality of the buildings. At 
this time, independent surveyors were appointed to undertake a Royal Institute of 
Chartered Surveyors survey of the building, which identified issues. Paradigm 
confirmed they were committed to actions to ensure that the building was brought up 
to the required standards. 

In order to enable the Council to utilize £1.5 million of Right To Buy receipts, the 
contract for the purchase had to be exchanged by 31 March 2016. This was done, but 
with a delayed completion date of September 2016. In July 2016, Paradigm advised 
the Council that defect rectification was ahead of schedule. However, at a site visit in 
August, Council officers had expressed concerns relating to progress and quality. 

Page 3



Paradigm advised that they were having difficulty with a contractor but were confident 
of fulfilling the  completion date of 31 September. 

The Council confirmed an extended contract completion date of 30 November 2016. 
This was fulfilled, supported by the relevant Building Control documentation and 
certification. The independent surveyors engaged by the Council in 2015 as part of 
the due diligence investigations confirmed, prior to completion, that all critical matters 
had been satisfactorily addressed, and that there was no reason that the purchase 
should not be completed.

In December 2016, the Council had identified some minor issues while undertaking a 
fire risk assessment, which were dealt with in January 2017. A contractor 
subsequently identified that fire doors had not been installed in line with a 
manufacturer's recommendations, and so these were replaced.

The first tenants moved in during June 2017. In June 2018, routine repairs uncovered 
further fire stopping issues, and the necessary corrective work, as well as further 
investigative work, was agreed with the London Fire Brigade. The Council then set up 
a 24-hour Fire Warden Service while the investigation was carried out. 

In November 2018, further fire stopping and quality issues were found, but Paradigm 
stated that they had no obligation to deal with these defects. As the safety of the 
residents was of paramount importance, the building was cleared in order to resolve 
all defects, with work to be completed by February 2020. During the decamp period, 
Council housing officers were providing an excellent service to all residents, with a 
view to ensuring that they would return to a safe property. 

In conclusion, Councillor Puddifoot confirmed that Council officers had been aware of 
various issues with this building, and had taken appropriate action at the time, but had 
not been aware that that the build was of poor quality or was dangerous at the time of 
the exchange of contract in March 2016. Responsibility for the issues with the building 
rested with Paradigm and the building contractor, and the Council was currently 
pursuing Paradigm with regard to costs, in terms of loss to the residents and the 
rectification works. 

By way of a supplementary question, Councillor Duncan asked that, once ligation 
proceedings had concluded, could Councillor Puddifoot provide a full account of 
actions taken in respect of Packet Boat House, to ensure Members and residents had 
a full understanding of the matter, and to ensure that the Council avoided a similar 
situation in the future?

Councillor Puddifoot agreed that, once litigation had been resolved, such details 
would be published and Members informed.

6.3 QUESTION SUBMITTED BY COUNCILLOR DENYS TO THE CABINET 
MEMBER FOR FINANCE, PROPERTY AND BUSINESS SERVICES – 
COUNCILLOR BIANCO:

What is Hillingdon Council doing, across all areas, to tackle climate change and 
operate in an environmentally friendly way?

Councillor Bianco confirmed that Hillingdon had been taking action on these important 
matters for some time. This included the more than 200 open spaces throughout the 
Borough, a new Air Quality Action Plan, ensuring that new buildings met the latest 
standards to minimize energy consumption and energy loss, new schemes providing 

Page 4



electric charging points for cars and bicycle storage facilities to encourage people 
away from using combustion engine vehicles, the replacement of 23,700 street lamps 
with LED lights, new developments fitted with photovoltaic panels, new gas boilers in 
the Council’s housing stock that met A+ energy efficiencies, and doors, windows, and 
general insulation had all been significantly improved.

There had been a significant reduction in the carbon emissions from Council 
buildings. The Council was testing using electric vehicles, and in green spaces 
electric grass cutting machines were being trialled. The Council’s waste service had 
one of the highest recycling rates in London, whilst maintaining a comprehensive free 
to use service. 

Councillor Bianco concluded that while achievements had been notable, more work 
would continue, to ensure that Hillingdon would remain eco-friendly for generations to 
come.

There was no supplementary question.

6.4 QUESTION SUBMITTED BY COUNCILLOR MORSE TO THE CABINET 
MEMBER FOR PLANNING, TRANSPORTATION AND RECYCLING – 
COUNCILLOR BURROWS:

On behalf of the Head Boy and teachers of Cranford Park Academy, can the Cabinet 
Member state how long will we wait for the Council to provide a food waste service for 
flats, schools and businesses?

Councillor Burrows read the Head Boy’s letter to Members, and responded by 
confirming the general waste and recycling collections available to flats, schools and 
business within the Borough. Schools and businesses were not obliged to use Council 
services, and some chose to have their waste collected by privately owned 
companies.
 
Weekly food waste collections had been available to Hillingdon residents living in low-
rise properties since October 2013. To date, approximately 40% of low-rise properties 
had ordered the necessary containers to utilise this service. All general waste 
collected by Hillingdon, including food waste which was not collected separately, was 
incinerated with energy recovery which prevented harmful methane gasses from being 
released into the atmosphere, and was therefore a more sustainable disposal method 
than landfill.  
 
Crews which currently collected waste and recycling from flats, schools and 
businesses collected more than 1000 bins per crew per week, but demand for food 
waste collections from businesses and schools was much lower than that for general 
waste and recycling. The waste services team were currently reviewing the service 
offering for businesses and flats in order to increase recycling participation.
 
Installing food waste recycling units to purpose built flats was difficult to do 
retrospectively, as suitable communal space was often unavailable. If space was not 
available, suitable alternatives could be costly and difficult to manage in privately 
owned accommodation.

Communal food waste bins required regular cleansing. Other local authorities who had 
trialled communal food waste collections had noted a rise in complaints regarding 
cleanliness and health and safety when ownership of cleansing was not managed 
well. Options to resolve the complexities detailed above continued to be reviewed 

Page 5



alongside commercial viability and other service improvements.

Councillor Burrows concluded by stating that the school had now decided to open an 
account for their refuse collections, with the result that none of the school’s waste 
would go to landfill. In addition, after the summer holidays the Head Boy and the 
school’s eco team would be invited to a meeting with the Cabinet Member and officers 
to discuss the matter further.

By way of a supplementary, Councillor Morse asked whether the Council was capable 
at present of monitoring the amount of food waste that went to landfill from businesses 
and other food outlets across the Borough, and if not, could the Council consider 
introducing a waste collection service that could monitor this?

Councillor Burrows responded by highlighting that this could be difficult as the Council 
did not collect all waste across the Borough. As outlined previously, many chose to 
use private contractors. However, this would be investigated, and any available data 
would subsequently be shared with Councillor Morse.   

17.    MOTIONS  (Agenda Item 7)

7.1 MOTION FROM COUNCILLOR PRINCE

Councillor Prince moved, and Councillor Eginton seconded, the following motion: 

“That this Council notes the recent changes to the Constitution passed at the Annual 
General Meeting, which were opposed by the Labour Group.

This Council further notes that there have been concerns made by Councillors about 
how these changes will affect the scrutiny role of being a Councillor. 

Therefore, this Council instructs the Head of Democratic Services to approach the 
Local Government Association to carry out an independent review of Hillingdon 
Council's scrutiny procedures to look at whether they are fit for purpose to enable 
Councillors to carry out their roles effectively.”

Following debate (Councillors Curling, Morse, Puddifoot, Simmonds and Sweeting), 
the motion was put to a vote and lost.

7.2 MOTION FROM COUNCILLOR DHILLON

Councillor Dhillon moved, and Councillor Sansapuri seconded, the following motion: 

“That this Council expresses alarm at the rise in Islamophobia in recent years across 
the UK. This includes incidents where Muslim men and women have been physically 
assaulted, Mosques have been set on fire and Muslim figures have faced 
disproportionate online abuse.

We therefore welcome the All Party Parliamentary Group on British Muslims' 
publication of an Islamophobia definition in November 2018 which defines 
Islamophobia thus:

“Islamophobia is rooted in racism and is a type of racism that targets expressions of 
Muslimness or perceived Muslimness.”

This Council resolves to fully adopt the APPG definition and is of the opinion that, 
Page 6



whilst defending the principle of freedom of speech, those who have expressed such 
Islamophobic views have no place in public life in this Borough.”

Councillor Simmonds moved, and Councillor Corthorne seconded, the following 
amendment:

To delete all after first paragraph and insert:

"Council notes the robust equalities policies that Hillingdon has in place to ensure fair 
and equitable treatment for all of our residents.

Council asks Cabinet to consider the recommendations of the APPG on British 
Muslims and Islamophobia as part of its regular reviewing and updating of these 
policies."

The Motion then to read:

“That this Council expresses alarm at the rise in Islamophobia in recent years across 
the UK. This includes incidents where Muslim men and women have been physically 
assaulted, Mosques have been set on fire and Muslim figures have faced 
disproportionate online abuse.

Council notes the robust equalities policies that Hillingdon has in place to ensure fair 
and equitable treatment for all of our residents.

Council asks Cabinet to consider the recommendations of the APPG on British 
Muslims and Islamophobia as part of its regular reviewing and updating of these 
policies."

Following debate (Councillor Dhillon), the amended motion was put to a vote and 
carried.

The substantive motion was then put to a vote. The motion was carried and it was:

RESOLVED: That this Council expresses alarm at the rise in Islamophobia in 
recent years across the UK. This includes incidents where Muslim men and 
women have been physically assaulted, Mosques have been set on fire and 
Muslim figures have faced disproportionate online abuse.

Council notes the robust equalities policies that Hillingdon has in place to 
ensure fair and equitable treatment for all of our residents.

Council asks Cabinet to consider the recommendations of the APPG on British 
Muslims and Islamophobia as part of its regular reviewing and updating of 
these policies.

The meeting, which commenced at 7.30 pm, closed at 8.34 pm.

These are the minutes of the above meeting.  For more information on any of the 
resolutions please contact Lloyd White, Head of Democratic Services on 01895 
556743.  Circulation of these minutes is to Councillors, Officers, the Press and 
Members of the Public.

Page 7



Page 8



Council – 12 September 2019

REPORT OF THE HEAD OF DEMOCRATIC SERVICES

Reporting Officer: Head of Democratic Services

(i) URGENT IMPLEMENTATION OF DECISIONS

RECOMMENDATION: That the Urgency decisions detailed below be noted.

Information

1. The Constitution allows a Cabinet or Cabinet Member decision to be implemented 
before the expiry of the 5 day call-in provided there is agreement from the Chief 
Executive and the Chairman of the Executive Scrutiny Committee to waive this. All 
such decisions are to be reported for information only to the next full Council 
meeting.

2. Since those noted at the 4 July 2019 Council meeting, the following decisions 
have been made using urgency procedures:

Date of 
Decision Decision Type / Nature of Decision Decision-Maker

02/07/2019 School Condition Programme 2019/20: 
Lady Bankes Infant and Junior Schools 
- Windows Replacement Project 
(Release No. 1)

Leader of the Council and 
Cabinet Member for Finance, 
Property & Business Services

02/07/2019 Housing Revenue Account Works to 
Stock 2019/20: Appointment of a 
Works Contractor for properties in 
Lundy Drive caused by Fire and 
subsequent water damage - New Build 
and Refurbishment (Release No.18)

Leader of the Council and 
Cabinet Member for Finance, 
Property & Business Services

11/07/2019 Uxbridge Christmas Market Contract Leader of the Council
16/07/2019 Housing Revenue Account - Major 

Adaptations to Property for residents 
2019/20 – (Release No.1)

Leader of the Council and 
Cabinet Member for Finance, 
Property & Business Services

19/07/2019 Tender Acceptance for Major 
Adaptations to a property in Glebe 
Avenue, Ickenham

Leader of the Council and 
Cabinet Member for Finance, 
Property & Business Services

26/07/2019 School Condition Programme 2019/20: 
Whiteheath Junior School 
Replacement of Mobile Classroom - 
Appointment of Contractor with Capital 
Release (Release No 2)

Leader of the Council and 
Cabinet Member for Finance, 
Property & Business Services

26/07/2019 Managed Service for the Supply & 
Distribution of Materials for the In-
House Repairs Team 

Leader of the Council and 
Cabinet Member for Finance, 
Property & Business Services

12/08/2019 Disabled Facilities Grants to residents 
2019/20 (Release No.1)

Leader of the Council and 
Cabinet Member for Finance, 
Property & Business Services

12/08/2019 Housing Revenue Account - Major 
Adaptations to Property for residents 
2019/20 (Release No.2)

Leader of the Council and 
Cabinet Member for Finance, 
Property & Business Services

Page 9

Agenda Item 5



Council – 12 September 2019

Date of 
Decision Decision Type / Nature of Decision Decision-Maker

20/08/2019 Highways, Carriageway & Footways 
Detailed Visual Inspection Contract

Leader of the Council and 
Cabinet Member for 
Planning, Transportation & 
Recycling

28/08/2019 Private Sector Renewal Grant (PSRG) 
2019/20: Essential Repairs and Grant 
– Release No.1

Leader of the Council and 
Cabinet Member for Finance, 
Property & Business Services

04/09/2019 Award of Contract: Appointment of a 
Contractor for the Refurbishment of 
Council Libraries and Associated 
Capital Release.

Leader of the Council / 
Cabinet Members for 
Finance, Property and 
Business Services & Central 
Services, Culture & Heritage

Background Papers: Decision Notices

(ii) CONSIDERATION OF THE 2019 STATUTORY GUIDANCE ON OVERVIEW AND 
SCRUTINY IN LOCAL AND COMBINED AUTHORITIES ISSUED BY HM 
GOVERNMENT

RECOMMENDATION: That Council considers the 2019 Statutory Scrutiny 
Guidance and

a) adopts the new Protocol on Overview & Scrutiny and Cabinet Relations as 
Table 2 in Schedule E - Policy Overview, Scrutiny and Select Committee 
Procedure Rules in the Council’s Constitution (see pages 17 & 18), and

b) agrees the associated new Paragraph 19 to those Rules, as set out in 
section c) of this report (see page 18).

Background to overview and scrutiny 

1.1 Larger local councils are required to have more than one overview and 
scrutiny committee as part of their core governance arrangements. The 
structure is local choice and most unitary councils have a number of such 
committees usually structured around cross-cutting service areas, engaging 
Councillors not in the executive in a variety of activities. Their role is similar to 
that of select committees in Parliament, broadly to:

i) assist in the development of council policy; 
ii) question and evaluate the actions of the executive, both before and 

after decisions are taken; and
iii) have the power to make reports and recommendations on such 

matters.

1.2 Since 2010, overview and scrutiny in Hillingdon has been separated into 
“scrutiny” and “policy overview” to provide greater clarity in exercising these 
functions.

1.3 Overview and scrutiny in Hillingdon has made a difference. Over the years, 
committees have undertaken successful in-depth reviews of Council services, 
policies and also of our external partners. This has resulted in a number of 
positive changes locally, with some also influencing changes at a national 

Page 10



Council – 12 September 2019

level. Such committees engage Members in a wide range of Council activity 
and build a greater understanding about service provision to residents. 

1.4 Ultimately, the committees’ efforts have been at their best when external 
witnesses and residents participate. In support of this, Committees have 
undertaken their own consultations, surveys, called expert technical 
witnesses, held site visits, informal networking events and, most importantly, 
have heard testimony directly from the community, including residents, 
businesses, schools, charities, parents and young people. This wide 
engagement has added value to recommendations made to the decision-
making Cabinet to improve local service provision and affect policy.

1.5 At the Council AGM on 10 May 2018, it further reviewed its overview and 
scrutiny arrangements and streamlined the number of Policy Overview 
Committees, enabled the operation of new multi-year work programmes to 
provide more flexibility for committee work programmes and in-depth reviews, 
whilst also integrating important corporate parenting responsibilities directly 
within these governance arrangements.

1.6 An annual report is presented to Council each May highlighting the work of 
overview and scrutiny and from June 2019 all committees started 
broadcasting live on YouTube, further promoting and engaging residents in 
this vital part of Hillingdon’s local democracy. 

National consideration of overview and scrutiny

1.7 On 15 December 2017, the then Communities and Local Government Select 
Committee finalised their inquiry into local authority overview and scrutiny 
arrangements and made a number of recommendations to improve their 
effectiveness, following feedback from a wide range of witnesses, local 
councils and the Centre for Public Scrutiny (CfPS).

1.8 In 2018, the Government published its response to the Select Committee's 
review and whilst supporting many of the findings, it acknowledged that key 
aspects should remain ‘local choice’ for councils themselves to determine 
based on local circumstances. The Government did concur with a central 
recommendation from the Select Committee that overview and scrutiny 
committees should report to an authority’s full Council meeting rather than to 
the executive, mirroring the relationship between Select Committees and 
Parliament. Some practical concerns were expressed that this would delay 
the democratic process given that it would ordinarily be the decision-making 
Cabinet that would be responsible for implementing any recommendations. 
The Government also accepted that more could be done to scrutinise 
external service providers and contractors so that overview and scrutiny 
could fully follow the “council pound”. This latter aspect was welcomed by 
many local councils.

1.9 To bring this national exchange together into firmer policy, the Government 
agreed to update its Statutory Guidance to local authorities.

Page 11



Council – 12 September 2019

The new Statutory Guidance

1.10 After some delay, in May 2019, the Ministry of Housing, Communities and 
Local Government published new Statutory Guidance on Overview and 
Scrutiny and extended this to include the new combined authorities now in 
existence. The Guidance was prepared with the assistance of the CPfS and 
Association of Democratic Services Officers (ADSO) who also co-ordinated 
input with local councils.

1.11 The Statutory Guidance is attached in Appendix A for all Members to fully 
consider. In the Guidance, the Government stresses the strong organisational 
culture that should underpin overview and scrutiny, the role it can play in 
holding an authority’s decision-makers to account, ensuring the efficient 
delivery of public services and driving improvements within a council and 
beyond. Fundamentally, the Government also recognises that councils have 
their own democratic mandates and are ultimately accountable to their 
electorate, and that councils themselves are best-placed to decide their 
arrangements based on local circumstances. However, the Government does 
ask that all councils cast a critical eye over their existing arrangements to 
ensure a culture that allows overview and scrutiny to flourish. The Statutory 
Guidance is based around key sections of:

● Culture – how a strong organisational culture can support scrutiny’s 
work to add value and the relationship with the executive;

● Resourcing – best using organisational resources to sustain an effective 
scrutiny function;

● Members - selecting committee members, chairmen, training and co-
opted members;

● Information - power to access council information and information and 
attendance from external partners and contractors;

● Planning – co-ordinating work programmes, witnesses, information 
sources, shortlisting topics to review etc…and;

● Evidence – planning for witness sessions, developing 
recommendations.

1.12 The Statutory Guidance also includes hypothetical illustrative scenarios on 
creating an executive-scrutiny protocol setting out their relationship, along 
with guidance on how committees can secure independent advice for their 
reviews and approaches to external organisation to appear before a 
committee.

1.13 As Statutory Guidance, by law councils must have regard to it when 
exercising their functions. The phrase ‘must have regard’, when used in this 
context, does not mean that the sections of Statutory Guidance have to be 
followed in every detail, but that they should be followed unless there is a 
good reason not to do so in a particular case. In addition, the Guidance 
advises that councils may have regard to other material they might choose to 
consider, including that issued by the CfPS, when exercising their overview 
and scrutiny functions.

1.14 In light of this, therefore Members should note that the CfPS and ADSO have 
been engaged in updating the Good Scrutiny Guide which was published in 
June 2019. This has been circulated to Committee Chairmen and Democratic 

Page 12



Council – 12 September 2019

Services Officers as a useful resource to guide committee advice and activity 
going forward. It is also a background paper to this report should Members 
wish to read it further.

1.15 It is advised that the new Statutory Scrutiny Guidance does not require 
the Council to make any structural changes to its current overview and 
scrutiny arrangements. In fact, in anticipation of the Guidance, some 
relevant changes required were made by Council in May 2018. Furthermore, 
overview and scrutiny legislation is flexible in that it recognises that councils 
are democratically elected and best placed to determine their own 
arrangements.

1.16 The Statutory Guidance is regarded by some practitioners as slightly weaker 
on ‘policy’ than expected and largely concentrates on best practice about how 
committees can operate most effectively, e.g. work planning, holding witness 
sessions, establishing panels and how to develop recommendations. 

1.17 Whilst Hillingdon’s current arrangements already include some of the best 
practice cited in the Statutory Guidance, e.g. multi-year work programmes for 
flexibility and in-depth reviews along with effective scrutiny of external 
partners, both Members and officers will still wish to have full and due regard 
to the guidance to determine whether any changes are required to further 
strengthen overview and scrutiny arrangements in Hillingdon.

1.18 Democratic Services have comprehensively reviewed the Statutory 
Guidance. It is considered that many aspects that are best practice in nature 
are best taken forward by individual Chairmen, Committee Members and 
Democratic Services Officers, having due regard to it during the development 
of policy reviews and multi-year work programmes.

1.19 However, there are some slightly more fundamental aspects of the new 
Statutory Guidance that should more appropriately be considered by full 
Council and that may also require constitutional change. These aspects are 
set out in a) to g) below, along with recommendations after having full regard 
to the Guidance.

a) access to information

1.20 By default, committees have always enjoyed substantial access to a wide 
range of data and information to support their reviews and multi-year work 
programmes, whether from within the Council or externally. Any common law 
“need to know basis” for such Members is rarely considered by officers. For 
example, information to committees has included contact centre data, 
statistics, GIS maps, officer reports, case studies, contractor performance 
data, financial updates, complaints and policy updates. As outlined later, all 
Members are also provided full details of all Public and Part II confidential 
executive reports. 

1.21 Requests for information to support any scrutiny, monitoring or policy review 
activity are ordinarily made via the Chairman or the Committee agreeing and 
the Democratic Services Officer supporting the Committee will then 
commission the request and provide the Committee with the information once 
analysed and ready. This regular information and intelligence gathering is 

Page 13



Council – 12 September 2019

undertaken entirely outside of the Members’ Enquiries process. Democratic 
Services Officers also regularly request information from partner 
organisations and external subject experts.

1.22 For clarity, the additional rights of access to information for overview and 
scrutiny Members and Committees, which are also referred to in the Statutory 
Guidance, are set out officially in the Council’s Constitution and Section 17 of 
The Local Authorities (Executive Arrangements) (Meetings and Access to 
Information) (England) Regulations 2012. 

1.23 In addition to all published public executive reports, these provide for any 
such committee or committee member to access any published private (Part 
II) executive report, listed background paper or decision notice, but only if the 
matter in the private report relates to work the Member is doing as part of the 
Committee’s work programme, e.g. scrutinising a decision, action or for a 
policy review. If requested, such information should be provided within 10 
clear days by the Cabinet or Cabinet Member. Where the Cabinet or Cabinet 
Member decides otherwise, they must provide the Committee or Member with 
a written statement setting out the reasons why.

1.24 In Hillingdon, however, every Part II private executive report published, listed 
background paper and decision notice is available to view by all 65 Members 
of the Council. This has been the practice for many years in the wider interest 
of full democratic transparency and irrespective of an individual Members’ 
role on any committee. This practice also applies to non-executive Part II 
reports for other committees, e.g. Audit Committee or planning enforcement 
reports. Therefore, in the round, all Hillingdon Members have enjoyed, for 
many years, access to official information that exceeds legal requirements.

1.25 If Members wish to conduct their own research, but outside usual Policy 
Overview, Scrutiny or Select Committee information channels or over and 
beyond the above legal access to information provisions, then this can be 
undertaken by themselves, through their respective Cabinet / Shadow 
Cabinet Policy Officers or via the Members’ Enquiries process, subject to the 
amended Protocol adopted in May 2019 where it does not relate to their 
ward. 

1.26 The Statutory Scrutiny Guidance recommends a default position for councils 
to adopt in respect of requests for information, stating:

“While each request for information should be judged on its individual merits, 
authorities should adopt a default position of sharing the information they 
hold, on request, with scrutiny committee members.”

1.27 Additionally, the Statutory Guidance refers to cases where, if it is not possible 
to make information requested by a committee public, that the committee ‘in 
meeting’ should still be able to consider this in private. For example, the 
previous Corporate Services and Partnerships Policy Overview Committee 
has considered the Heathrow Airport Cumulo / Business Rate matter in 
private. In such cases, Democratic Services would appropriately consider a 
private Part 2 session of a committee meeting in order to ensure overview 
and scrutiny Members had the fullest possible information to carry out their 
role effectively.

Page 14



Council – 12 September 2019

1.28 Given the broad access to information for overview and scrutiny 
members to council information outlined above, it is not considered any 
changes are required to existing procedures or the Council Constitution 
in this regard. However, this will be kept under review by Democratic 
Services.

b) information reporting

1.29 Policy Overview Committees currently receive a wide range of information to 
monitor council service provision on a regular basis. This includes service 
reports, complaints and ombudsman findings, financial updates, the Forward 
Plan etc... 

1.30 The Statutory Guidance states that scrutiny will need access to relevant 
information to inform its work programme and that the type of information will 
depend on the specific role and function scrutiny plays within the authority. It 
includes a few examples of information reporting to committees that currently 
does not take place in Hillingdon, e.g. risk management and options 
appraisals before Cabinet decisions. 

1.31 Members should note that currently there is quarterly reporting on risk 
management (corporate risk register) undertaken by the Audit Committee and 
reporting to a Policy Overview Committee would duplicate this activity. 
Additionally, in the case of committees considering, as the Guidance states, 
‘options appraisals’ in advance of key executive decisions, these are matters 
under the auspices of the Cabinet in the Constitution. However, this is not to 
say there may be opportunities for such reporting following discussions with 
Cabinet Members. The proposed protocol set out in c) below may assist with 
this.

1.32 It is considered that the current Terms of Reference of the committees are 
broad enough to provide for any additional information reporting that is 
agreed by relevant parties. Therefore, it is not considered that any changes 
are required to the Constitution in respect of this.

c) scrutiny / executive relationships

1.33 The central element of the Statutory Guidance and also the CfPS’s Good 
Scrutiny Guide is how overview and scrutiny committees build an effective 
relationship with the executive that it is also scrutinising or recommending 
changes to. The Guidance emphasises the need for a clear acceptance of 
scrutiny’s independent role by a council’s executive and an understanding 
that scrutiny will also have a degree of political dimension. However, the 
guidance does not encourage an adversarial relationship between scrutiny 
and executives. The Good Scrutiny Guide states, “While the executive should 
not direct scrutiny’s priorities, scrutiny work will need to reflect at least some 
of the executive’s priorities in order to ensure that it is adding value”. 
Furthermore, the Statutory Guidance states that “the executive is a principal 
partner” in discussions on scrutiny’s work programme and that conversation 
will help scrutiny members better understand how their work can be designed 
to aligned to best influence a council's wider work.

Page 15



Council – 12 September 2019

1.34 As all Members will be aware, effective scrutiny can sometimes involve 
looking at issues that can be politically contentious. It is, therefore, possible 
that, at times, an executive will disagree with the findings or 
recommendations of a committee. The Guidance advises that is the job of 
both the executive and scrutiny to work together to reduce the risk of this 
happening, and authorities should take steps to predict, identify and act on 
disagreement and setting out a way to achieve this. 

1.35 In Hillingdon, this relationship management is appropriately undertaken by 
Committee Chairman, the Statutory Scrutiny Officer and Democratic Services 
Officers. For example, this may involve Cabinet Members being briefed at the 
key scoping and recommendation phases of a committee’s policy review, as 
a key partner, to gauge support. It may also involve consultation with 
Corporate Directors on future committee reports and suggestions on service 
areas that may benefit from monitoring as part of a committees multi-year 
work programme. Additionally, where Committees decide, as is their 
prerogative, to invite Cabinet Members to attend meetings, this can be 
extremely useful in supplementing any officer advice and giving a broader 
understanding of the Council’s decisions or policy direction.

1.36 In respect of prospective policy review topics, ideas are sought not only from 
Committee Members but the wider corporate body to ensure any topic can 
add real value to the Council to improve local service provision. 

1.37 Ultimately and always, it should be for an individual committee to decide its 
own priorities and work without any direction from the executive, however, the 
importance of gaining support from the executive and wider organisation 
should never be underestimated by committees, as they are constitutionally 
and legally responsible for policy, council services and implementing any 
recommendations. 

1.38 As council budgets have shrunk nationally, Hillingdon has led the way in 
making taxpayer’s money go further, both to maintain and also improve front-
line services for residents. It is increasingly important, therefore, for overview 
and scrutiny committees to ensure they also operate within this same 
environment. Recommendations from committees that potentially incur new 
or unplanned in-year costs on a council’s budget need to be carefully 
considered before they are taken forward, for both the benefit of overview & 
scrutiny but also the executive that oversees the Council’s finances.

1.39 To assist with pre-decision scrutiny when committees are monitoring the 
Forward Plan, Cabinet Members may consider authorising (as they 
sometimes do), that draft executive reports be presented before a committee 
for their insight and input before it comes to them or the Cabinet for final 
decision. Furthermore, committees are also statutorily consulted on the 
annual budget and key strategies prior to any final Cabinet consideration and 
Council approval. To provide for pre-decision scrutiny, there is a standard 
section on all executive reports for “Policy Overview Committee Comments”.

Protocol on Overview & Scrutiny and Cabinet Relations

1.40 In light of the above, and as specifically recommended in the new Statutory 
Scrutiny Guidance, the Council may wish to formalise and make more 

Page 16



Council – 12 September 2019

transparent the expected relationship between overview & scrutiny and the 
Cabinet by agreeing a Protocol, one that also considers local circumstances 
and dynamics.

1.41 As this is a key recommendation within the Statutory Guidance, it is 
recommended that full Council considers the matter at the earliest opportunity 
and that a new Protocol on Overview & Scrutiny and Cabinet Relations be 
adopted as part of the Schedule E, the Committee Procedure Rules in the 
Constitution as Table 2 (Table 1 being the Committee’s Terms of Reference). 

1.42 The Statutory Guidance provides an illustrative approach to such a Protocol 
and the CfPS’s Good Scrutiny Guide sets out common themes and principles 
that one could embody. Additionally, the Guidance places value on 
conversations with Members and officers in its development, which has taken 
place.

1.43 All of the above has been taken into account in the development of the 
Protocol proposed below, which seeks a careful balance that maintains the 
integrity of these two democratic functions, whilst understanding the need for 
them to work collaboratively together for the wider benefit of the Council and 
community:

Table 2 - Protocol on Overview & Scrutiny and Cabinet Relations

This protocol sets out the practical expectations of Policy Overview, 
Scrutiny and Select Committee Members and Cabinet Members to 
ensure an effective relationship that adds value to overview and scrutiny 
governance in Hillingdon.
Notwithstanding their independent role, Committee Members are 
expected to:

 Take into account suggestions from Cabinet Members as well as 
other stakeholders, on the development of their multi-year work 
programmes or policy reviews to ensure strong organisational and 
community support;

 Ensure appropriate early engagement with Cabinet Members on draft 
policy review recommendations in order to gauge support. 

 Seek early engagement with the relevant Cabinet Member, Cabinet 
Member for Finance, Property and Business Services and Leader of 
the Council to consider the viability of draft policy review 
recommendations that may have a financial consequence;

 Seek the support of the relevant Cabinet Member, Leader of the 
Council and Corporate Director when it considers to compel a 
particular contractor providing Council services to provide information 
or attend a meeting;

 Through Democratic Services, ensure Corporate Directors and 
Cabinet Members are kept regularly informed about the committee’s 
activity and multi-year work programmes.

 Liaise with the relevant Corporate Director, Cabinet Member and 
Leader of the Council should exceptional financial or officer resources 
be required in order to undertake a particular future work activity or 
policy review.

Page 17



Council – 12 September 2019

Respecting the independent role of the committees, Cabinet Members 
are expected to:

 Never personally seek to direct the activity of a committee, though 
they may make suggestions or request matters of interest to be 
considered by a Committee; 

 Ensure their attendance to provide information when requested by the 
Committee (noting that further informal and formal provisions by a 
committee for this are set out in the Constitution).

 Actively support the provision of relevant council information and 
other requests from the Committee as part of their work programme;

 Fully and openly, consider any findings from a committee following a 
formal scrutiny call-in or from any final recommendations presented to 
Cabinet from a policy review.

 Where feasible, provide opportunities for committees to provide their 
input on forthcoming executive reports as set out in the Forward Plan 
to enable wider pre-decision scrutiny (in addition to those statutorily 
required to come before committees);

 Ensure all recommendations from committees approved by the 
Cabinet are implemented in a timely and effective manner by officers, 
and that this be monitored regularly by Corporate Directors, as it is 
with the Committees themselves.

In the unlikely event that that a difference in view occurs between the 
parties, the Committee Chairman, Committee Member or Cabinet 
Member should inform the Statutory Scrutiny Officer, who will seek to 
resolve the matter in accordance with this protocol, the Council’s 
Constitution and other relevant guidance and will consider the best 
interests of both overview & scrutiny and the executive. Should the matter 
not be resolved, any final determination will be by the Monitoring Officer. 
The Statutory Scrutiny Officer will report on the effectiveness of this 
protocol as part of the Annual Report to Council each year.

1.44 A new paragraph 19 will also be required in the Committee’s Procedure 
Rules - Schedule E in the Constitution - in order to reference the Protocol as 
shown below:

19.     Protocol on Overview & Scrutiny and Cabinet Relations

In addition to the procedures set out in Schedule E, a Protocol in 
Table 2 sets out the practical expectations of Policy Overview, 
Scrutiny and Select Committee Members and Cabinet Members to 
ensure an effective relationship that adds value to overview and 
scrutiny governance in Hillingdon.

d) corporate & officer support

1.45 The Statutory Guidance refers to the role of the Statutory Scrutiny Officer in 
supporting and promoting overview and scrutiny and providing guidance to 
Chairmen, Committees and Members. In Hillingdon, the Senior Democratic 
Services Manager is the Statutory Scrutiny Officer and this post is well 

Page 18



Council – 12 September 2019

regarded as a key strategic role in the Council reporting not only to Members, 
but also to the Corporate Management Team on a monthly basis advising 
Corporate Directors on both future executive and also scrutiny business, and 
where required, their interrelationship and successful progression through the 
organisation to Members. Furthermore, Corporate Management Team place 
a high value on the insight of overview and scrutiny to help improve services 
and they also monitor the implementation of committee recommendations 
approved by Cabinet through the same tracking system used by Committees 
to ensure their effective delivery. 

1.46 The Statutory Guidance refers to different officer support models for overview 
and scrutiny and advises that councils themselves are free to decide which 
model best suits their individual circumstances. In Hillingdon, a hybrid 
arrangement exists that encompasses all three suggested models. A 
dedicated Democratic Services Officer is allocated to support each 
Committee and provides both the essential clerking role but also specialist 
research advice. Additionally, technical officers from the corporate centre or 
service areas are commissioned to advise a committee, say as part of a 
policy review. The Statutory Scrutiny Officer strengthens these arrangements 
by providing strategic advice and challenge. 

1.47 The Guidance stresses the importance of communicating scrutiny’s role and 
purpose within a council and beyond. In Hillingdon, regular masterclasses are 
held for staff and managers to better understand the democratic process, 
which includes overview and scrutiny. Additionally, an online toolkit is 
available to staff to learn in more detail about how overview and scrutiny 
works in Hillingdon. Bespoke seminars have also been held for Officers and 
Members. Beyond this, the decision to broadcast meetings on YouTube will 
certainly enhance its wider public profile. 

1.48 Therefore, it is considered that current strategic and operational 
arrangements to support and promote overview and scrutiny are strong and 
suitable for the size of the Council. 

e) reporting to Council

1.49 Notably missing from the Statutory Guidance is the Government’s earlier 
commitment in 2018 for a more fundamental change so that any scrutiny 
policy reviews would automatically be referred to full Council (instead of 
Cabinet). This is not included in the new guidance, stating that this should 
be a matter for scrutiny to decide when it would be appropriate, but also 
taking into account full Council’s capacity to consider and respond.

1.50 Full Council is the Borough’s primary democratic forum. As previously stated, 
there is an annual report on the activity of overview and scrutiny in Hillingdon 
presented to Council each May, keeping Council informed. To supplement 
this, for any committee report that has already been considered by Cabinet, 
but that may be of wider community significance, the Constitution allows 
Cabinet to refer it to an ordinary full Council meeting (for noting only), which 
could amplify public awareness about a subject, whilst also showcasing how 
Cabinet and scrutiny collaborate effectively together.

Page 19



Council – 12 September 2019

1.51 It is widely considered that for overview and scrutiny to be most effective, any 
recommendations made by committees should go to the relevant accountable 
body that can consider them, in order to be implemented or become official 
policy. 

1.52 In that spirit, Hillingdon’s Constitution provides for committee reports and 
recommendations to be referred to Cabinet as the appropriate body where it 
complies with the approved budget and policy framework, as is the usual 
course of events. Conversely, where a committees’ proposals seek to deviate 
from that approved budget and policy framework it would be full Council (not 
Cabinet) to consider and make such a decision.

1.53 Overall, the Constitution provides for the ability to keep full Council well 
informed about overview & scrutiny and allows for formal reporting to both 
Cabinet and full Council, in the relevant circumstances. Therefore, it is 
considered that no changes need necessarily be made in respect of this part 
of the Statutory Guidance.

f) Members and selecting committee chairmen

1.54 The Statutory Guidance gives advice on how councils may wish to select 
Members to serve on committees, alongside with the importance of training 
and Member induction. It, along with the Good Scrutiny Guide from the CfPS, 
places much focus on the important role of chairmen themselves in raising 
the profile and impact of their committee.

1.55 Whilst being clear that it should be for particular councils to decide, the 
Guidance does request that each council consider taking a vote by secret 
ballot to appoint all chairmen of overview and scrutiny committees. In 
Hillingdon, such appointments are made in public at the Council AGM, 
following political group recommendations. It is suggested that a secret ballot 
could represent a retrograde step, reducing the transparency of decision-
making and that it may not befit a modern, democratic public body. Unless 
Members consider otherwise, it is not recommended to pursue this particular 
secret ballot proposal.

1.56 The Guidance welcomes the provision of outside expertise on committees 
and requests councils make clear their arrangements for co-opted members 
and also, if needed, the use of external technical advisers (e.g. consultants or 
academic professionals). The Council’s Constitution includes the ability to 
appoint a standing co-opted member with particular expertise to assist 
committees in their work (this has previously been done). In addition, any 
technical advisor, if required by a committee, would in effect become a 
standing witnesses at relevant meetings.

g) following the council pound / scrutinising contractors

1.57 The Statutory Guidance seeks to strengthen the way committees can access 
information from external organisations. It gives advice on how to approach 
external organisations, particularly those where there is no legal duty to 
provide committees with information. In Hillingdon, committees have much 
experience in this regard, fostering good relations with partner organisations, 
private sector companies and regularly inviting such external organisations to 

Page 20



Council – 12 September 2019

attend as witnesses for policy reviews, with representatives at both junior and 
board level.

1.58 When necessary, the Guidance encourages the ability for committees to 
monitor and scrutinise organisations that receive public funding to deliver 
goods and services, i.e. “to follow the council pound”. This would include 
services that are contracted out. The Guidance highlights the expectation of 
such external organisations to provide any information required by a 
committee and even appear before a committee to answer questions. The 
Guidance states:

“when agreeing contracts with these bodies, authorities should consider 
whether it would be appropriate to include a requirement for them to supply 
information to or appear before scrutiny committees.”

1.59 Should a contractor attend a committee meeting in Hillingdon, it would 
ordinarily be on an informal basis with the relevant ‘client’ service manager 
present, e.g. if the committee is undertaking an in-depth review of a service 
area and key aspects of it are undertaken by contractors.

1.60 Where a committee ever wished to formally compel a council contractor to 
supply information or attend a meeting, this would inevitably be in an 
exceptional circumstance, for example, where contractual performance had 
affected a large number of residents and lessons may need to be learned by 
relevant parties. 

1.61 In Hillingdon, should there be an exceptional need in the future for a 
committee to compel a particular contractor, the Head of Procurement 
advises that current contract clauses enable the Council to inspect any 
document under their control and also requires their officials to attend for 
interview in connection with the provision of those services. While ordinarily 
this would be undertaken by officers, the clauses also enable this to be by a 
committee in an exceptional case. 

1.62 Crucially, Members should note that it is the Cabinet that is responsible for 
authorising contracts, and officers for monitoring them, therefore, any 
consideration to compel a contractor by a committee, should first seek 
support from the relevant Cabinet Member and Corporate Director. A 
reference to provide for this vital collaboration this is included in the proposed 
Protocol in section c).

1.63 A core Term of Reference of the Policy Overview Committees in the 
Constitution is to ‘monitor the performance of council services’ and this would 
be irrespective of a service being delivered directly by the Council or 
contracted out.

1.64 Full Council is the body responsible for any changes to the Constitution and 
also the Procurement Standing Orders. It is, therefore, advised that no 
changes are required to these policies to enable committees to be able to 
effectively ‘follow the council pound’ as set out in the Statutory Guidance.

Page 21



Council – 12 September 2019

Implementation

1.65 The key constitutional change being recommended in light of the Statutory 
Guidance is the adoption of a new Protocol on Overview & Scrutiny and 
Cabinet Relations. This protocol would come into immediate effect following 
Council approval and communicated to have regard to by the relevant 
parties.

1.66 Full regard has been given to the key aspects of the Statutory Scrutiny 
Guidance as set out in this report. All other parts of the Guidance and the 
varied best practice suggestions within will be actively taken forward by 
chairmen, committee members, Democratic Services Officers and the wider 
organisation to ensure they have due regard to it when undertaking overview 
and scrutiny committee activity and work planning.

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS

There are no direct financial implications arising directly out of this report. The 
proposed Protocol seeks to clarify arrangements between overview & 
scrutiny and Cabinet in relation to future review recommendations that may 
have a financial impact. 

LEGAL IMPLICATIONS

Overview and scrutiny committees are creatures of statute and were first 
introduced by the Local Government Act 2000 as part of the then 
Government's models of new executive governance arrangements for local 
authorities. This legislation has since been strengthened and updated, most 
notably by the Localism Act 2011.

The practice and operation of overview and scrutiny committees has evolved 
at Hillingdon over the years but it is important to note that it has at all times 
been fully compliant with the law.

The Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government issued new 
'Statutory Guidance on Overview and Scrutiny in Local and Combined 
Authorities' in May 2019 under section 9Q of the Local Government Act 2000 
and paragraph 2[9] of Schedule 5A to the Local Democracy, Economic 
Development and Construction Act 2009.

The legal status of this Guidance, as prescribed by the above legislation, is 
that such authorities must have regard to it when exercising their functions. It 
is important to note that the wording, 'must have regard' does not mean that 
the sections of statutory guidance have to be followed in every detail, but that 
they should be followed unless there is a good reason not to in a particular 
case. In addition, authorities may have regard to other material they might 
choose to consider, including that issued by the Centre for Public Scrutiny, 
when exercising their overview and scrutiny functions.

The Borough Solicitor advises that the recommendation in this report, which 
includes the adoption of a new Protocol on Overview & Scrutiny and Cabinet 
Relations, fully complies with both the Local Government Act 2000 as 

Page 22



Council – 12 September 2019

amended, and also with the new statutory guidance, and therefore it is lawful 
for full Council to agree and implement it.

The Borough Solicitor further advises that the new statutory guidance does 
not require the Council to make any structural changes to its current overview 
and scrutiny arrangements which explains why there is no recommendation 
in the report to this effect.

It is important to note that the new statutory guidance should not be confused 
with the Protocol for Member and Officer Relations which Members of the 
Council will recall was amended at the AGM in May. Overview and Scrutiny is 
underpinned by a robust statutory framework and statutory guidance, 
whereas the Protocol is, as the Borough Solicitor has previously advised, to a 
large extent a written statement of practice and convention. Moreover, whilst 
there is a reference in the Protocol to a duty imposed on officers or Members 
[subject to certain provisos] to attend and answer questions if a Policy 
Overview, Scrutiny and Select Committee so requires, and that Members of 
such Committees have greater rights of access to information, there is 
otherwise no direct correlation between the overview and scrutiny process 
and the Protocol and therefore they should be treated as separate and 
distinct from each other.

BACKGROUND PAPERS: i) Communities and Local Government Select Committee review 
findings into the effectiveness of local authority overview and scrutiny arrangements. ii)The 
Government’s response to the Select Committee's findings. iii) Good Scrutiny Guide - CfPS - 
June 2019. iv) The Local Authorities (Executive Arrangements) (Meetings and Access to 
Information) (England) Regulations 2012.

iii) AMENDMENT TO THE COUNCIL CONSTITUTION

Health and Wellbeing Board Membership

1. At the meeting of Council on 9 May 2013, the new Health and Wellbeing Board 
was formally approved as a Committee of the Council. The Board's Standing 
Orders specify that changes to its Statutory Membership must be determined by 
full Council.

2. A replacement is required for the substitute for the Director of Children’s 
Services statutory voting member. It is recommended that Ms Sandra Taylor, 
Director of Provider Services and Commissioned Care be named as the 
required substitute member.

RECOMMENDATION: That Ms Sandra Taylor, be named as the substitute for 
the Director of Children’s Services statutory voting member on the Health and 
Wellbeing Board.

BACKGROUND PAPERS: None

Page 23



This page is intentionally left blank



Council – 12 September 2019

6.1 QUESTION SUBMITTED BY COUNCILLOR HENSLEY TO THE LEADER OF 
THE COUNCIL - COUNCILLOR PUDDIFOOT:

Would the Leader of the Council please update Council on the current situation 
regarding the future of the proposed Heathrow Expansion and the HS2 Project?

6.2 QUESTION SUBMITTED BY COUNCILLOR MAKWANA TO THE CABINET 
MEMBER FOR EDUCATION AND CHILDREN’S SERVICES – COUNCILLOR 
SIMMONDS: 

With the new school term having recently got underway, can the Cabinet Member 
provide an update on the position with school places at Primary and Secondary 
Schools in the borough?

6.3 QUESTION SUBMITTED BY COUNCILLOR MELVIN TO THE CABINET 
MEMBER FOR CENTRAL SERVICES, CULTURE AND HERITAGE – 
COUNCILLOR LEWIS:

Would the Cabinet Member please tell me how many apprentices we employ and 
whether we find it effective to employ and train staff in this way. Can you also 
please explain the benefits to both the apprentices and Hillingdon Council?

6.4 QUESTION SUBMITTED BY COUNCILLOR MORSE TO THE LEADER OF THE 
COUNCIL - COUNCILLOR PUDDIFOOT:

Given that the UK Parliamentary Council Guidance on selecting Chairs of Scrutiny 
committees states that “Given their pre-eminent role on the scrutiny committee, it is 
strongly recommended that the Chair not preside over scrutiny of their relatives”, 
how does the Leader of the Council account for Councillor Richard Mills being 
selected to chair the Corporate Services, Commerce and Communities Policy 
Overview Committee for the 2019/2020 municipal year?

QUESTIONS FROM MEMBERS

Page 25

Agenda Item 6



This page is intentionally left blank



Council – 12 September 2019

MOTIONS

7.1 MOTION FROM COUNCILLOR D.MILLS

That this Council welcomes the announcement by The Prime Minister, The Right 
Hon. Boris Johnson MP, that we need to increase the physical presence of police 
to help tackle crime levels across the country and that funding will be made 
available for the provision of an additional 20,000 police officers by 2022.

That, given that Hillingdon will have additional police numbers who will require 
adequate operational facilities, this Council agrees that its offer to purchase 
Uxbridge Police Station for £5M, to enable continued use by local officers, made 
in the 2018 budget should be remade to The Mayor of London as soon as 
possible.

That this Council notes that, should The Mayor of London wish to proceed quickly 
with this offer, to ensure that adequate police facilities are maintained, that it be 
funded from the projected underspend of £10M in the 2019/20 General Fund 
Capital Programme resulting from a rephasing of project expenditure, alternatively 
funding will be provided in to the 2020/21 budget. 

7.2 MOTION FROM COUNCILLOR EGINTON

NB: Motion submitted in accordance with Council Rule 18 – Previous 
Decisions and Motions - 18.1: Motion to Rescind a Previous Decision.

A motion or amendment to rescind a decision made at a meeting of Council 
within the past six months cannot be moved unless the notice of motion is 
signed by at least 17 Members. 

The Head of Democratic Services has confirmed that the following Motion 
has been signed by the required number of Members:

That the following amendments to the Council Constitution (shown in Italics) as 
agreed at Council on 9 May 2019, be rescinded:

‘Protocol for Member / Officer Relations - Regarding Member Enquiries:

A Member is free to approach any Council Department to provide such 
information, explanation and advice about the Department’s functions as may 
reasonably be required in order to assist with discharging his/her role. Such 
requests must be reasonable and will be met subject to any overriding legal 
considerations (determined by Monitoring Officer).

If the recipient of any request considers the cost of providing the information 
requested or the nature of the request to be unreasonable, they will raise the 
matter with the relevant Corporate Director who will discuss the issue with the 
relevant Group Leader or, in the absence of a Group Leader, with the Member 
concerned. Should a Member wish for information that is not specific to their own 
Ward (e.g. is regarding matters affecting the whole Borough or is cross-cutting for 

Page 27

Agenda Item 7



Council – 12 September 2019

a part of the Borough wider than a single Ward) then such a request must be 
made through the Group Leader with an explanation as to why such information is 
required. 

Should a Member wish to raise, or be asked to raise by a member of the public, a 
matter in another Member's Ward there is an expectation that they will refer the 
matter to the appropriate Ward Member(s), unless a valid reason why this would 
not be appropriate is provided by the Group Leader.

Where a Member requests such factual information, that information will also be 
supplied to the relevant Cabinet Member, Chairman of the appropriate Committee 
or relevant Officers.’

7.3 MOTION FROM COUNCILLOR MATHERS

That this Council notes that, though slavery was abolished across the then British 
Empire in 1833, including the UK, there are more slaves today than ever before in 
human history. Figures from the International Labour Organisation (ILO) suggest 
that there are more than 40 million people in modern slavery across the world, 
with nearly 25 million in forced labour.

There were 5,145 victims of modern slavery submitted to the National Referral 
Mechanism in 2017, a 35% increase on 2016. A rising number but still well below 
the 10,000 and 13,000 potential victims estimated by the Home Office. Modern 
Slavery is happening nationwide. Traffickers and slave masters use whatever 
means they have at their disposal to coerce, deceive and force individuals into a 
life of abuse, servitude and inhumane treatment. This can include sexual and 
criminal exploitation.

That this Council believes that action needs to be taken to raise awareness of 
modern slavery and the fact that it is happening all over the UK. That councils 
have an important role to play in ensuring their contracts and supplies 
arrangements are set up to combat modern day slavery and exploitation.

That Hillingdon Council, as a port authority, plays an important part in combating 
this evil practice, given the often vulnerability of asylum seekers.

That this Council resolves to adopt the Charter against Modern Slavery to ensure 
our procurement practices don’t support slavery.

The Charter
The London Borough of Hillingdon Council will:
1. Train its corporate procurement team to understand modern slavery through 

the Chartered Institute of Procurement and Supply’s (CIPS) online course on 
Ethical Procurement and Supply.

2. Require its contractors to comply fully with the Modern Slavery Act 2015, 
wherever it applies, with contract termination as a potential sanction for non-
compliance.

3. Challenge any abnormally low-cost tenders to ensure they don’t rely upon 
the potential contractor practising modern slavery.

Page 28



Council – 12 September 2019

4. Highlight to its suppliers that contracted workers are free to join a trade 
union and are not to be treated unfairly for belonging to one.

5. Publicise its whistle-blowing system for staff to blow the whistle on any 
suspected examples of modern slavery.

6. Require its tendered contractors to adopt a whistle-blowing policy which 
enables their staff to blow the whistle on any suspected examples of modern 
slavery.

7. Review its contractual spending regularly to identify any potential issues with 
modern slavery.

8. Highlight for its suppliers any risks identified concerning modern slavery and 
refer them to the relevant agencies to be addressed.

9. Refer for investigation via the National Crime Agency’s national referral 
mechanism any of its contractors identified as a cause for concern regarding 
modern slavery.

10. Report publicly on the implementation of this policy annually.

Page 29



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	2 Minutes
	5 Report of the Head of Democratic Services
	6 Members' Questions
	7 Motions

